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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Maplewood is a two-story, red brick farmhouse embellished by a bracketed cornice,
segmental-arched windows and a decorative central portico. Built ca. 1877 as a
T-shaped structure, it was modified ca. 1891 by the addition of a two-story,

polygonal bay on the south. Less sensitive alterations ca. 1920 considerably

affected the exterior appearance of the house, but major restorations ca. 1972-76
returned the house to near-original condition. Remaining on the property and
associated with the history and development of the farmstead are several appurtenances,
including hay and stock barns, carriage house, servants' quarters, pump house and

root cellar.

EXTERIOR

Maplewood is constructed of red brick, Taid fourteen inches thick on a stone
foundation. The handmade brick is laid in common bond on all but the primary
facade, where a running bond is employed. The stone foundation is covered with
cement and painted grey. Decorative features of the house, such as cornice and
porch elements, are of wood painted white.

Measuring approximately 59' east-west by 57' north-south at its widest points, the
house is three bays wide and two stories high, with a one-room cellar under the
kitchen area. The original T-shaped plan consisted of a rectangular, north-south
running block, with a rectangular, east-west running block centered on its western
side. A two-story portico was located along the southern side of the rear block.
The structure was modified ca. 1891, when a polygonal, two-story bay was added on
the south. At that time the rear portico was enclosed.

The main wings of the house are covered with intersecting, low-pitched hip roofs.
& polygonal roof caps the polygonal addition, and a pent roof shelters the now-
enclosed rear portico. These roofs are presently covered with Canadian Cedar
shingles, as are the pent roofs of two small side porches. The flat roof of the
portico and the polygonal roof of the bay window on the primary facade are
presently covered with sheet copper.

The roofline of the primary facade is interrupted by a small gable which peaks
above the central bay. A boxed cornice trims the roof, concealing copper gutters.
Regularly spaced modillions trim the cornice, with larger, paired brackets with
pendants accentuating the cornice at the corners of the building and beneath the
central gable. (Modillions are not found on any of the west-facing sides of the
house.) The roof of the front block is pierced by two brick chimneys placed
centrally at the ridge. Another brick chimney is contained within the fabric of
the rear block.

Windows are generally rectangular, double-hung sash with two-over-two lights.
Segmental brick arches cap the windows, and the upper sash 1ights and wooden
surrounds of most windows curve to meet the arches. Stone Tugsills, now painted
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white, trim each window. Paired narrow windows occur in the central bay of the
second story. Spaced in the gable above is a glazed roundel, its circumference
rimmed with brick headers. Occupying the northern bay of the first story is a
three-sided bay window. Its flat-headed windows are double-hung and rectangular,
with one-over-one lights. Louvered, wooden shutters remain on most windows.
Basement windows occur on the north and west sides of the rear block. They are
capped by segmental arches of double rows of headers and fronted by semi-circular
brick window wells.

The primary facade is dominated by a single-bay, one-story portico. Two slender,
square columns and corresponding pilasters support a simple entablature. Brackets
with pendants mark the transition from column to entablature, and a balustrade of
openwork railings encloses a balcony above. The porch floor extends to the south,
creating an open porch enclosed by similar railings. The present porch is a
reconstruction, based on early photographs of the original. The original was
removed ca. 1920, when an enclosed porch was built across the entire length of

the primary facade. That enclosed porch was removed during the 1975-76 restoration
in order to return the building to its late-nineteenth century appearance.

INTERIOR

The interior of Maplewood retains much of its original integrity and has been
completely restored to its nineteenth century appearance and elegance. Original
pine millwork, painted with a feather to resemble burl walnut, is one of the most
striking details of the interior. Medium-width, yellow pine boards, remarkable
for being free of knotholes, form the flooring throughout the house. Fireplaces
are the dominant feature of six of the rooms. Many of these are of cast metal,
painted in imitation of marble. The central hallway of the house is highlighted
by a U-shaped staircase with moulded walnut handrail and tapering, octagonal newel
post of maple. Among the more "modern" conveniences of Maplewood were the
speaking tubes. These devices, which still are located in the sitting room and
the first floor room of the polygonal addition, facilitated communication with
those in the rooms above.

ALTERATIONS

Although Maplewood has undergone certain alterations, it retains its original
integrity to a Targe degree. The first alterations, ca. 1891, were done by the
original owner/builder and represent an integral part of the historical interest
of the house. Subsequent alterations, done during the initial residency of the
Nifongs, were mainly interior alterations serving to modernize the house. Later
alterations did not contribute to the integrity of the house and were removed by
the City of Columbia in an effort to restore the house as closely as possible to
its turn-of-the-century appearance.
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ca. 1891 - At this time Slater Lenoir added a polygonal, two-story bay on the south,
expanding the interior space by two rooms. The construction and detailing of the
addition echoed the design of the house, while adding assymetrical interest.
Construction of this addition necessitated the alteration of an existing two-story
portico which ran along the southern side of the rear wing. The porch was

entirely enclosed, and the stairs which connected the first and second floors of
the porch were removed. Interior back stairs were built, which led to the second
story and to the basement.

ca. 1905 - The necessities of modern life, including heating, lighting and plumbing,
were installed.

ca. 1920 - During this period the exterior of the house was modified by several
additions. The original porch on the primary facade was removed and a full-Tength,
glassed-in porch was built. A porte cochere covered with stucco was added on the
north side of the house.

ca. 1972-76 - Maplewood was acquired by the City of Columbia in 1970. In 1974, the
house was designated an American Revolution Bicentennial Project, and funds were
obtained for its restoration. Most of the 1920 vintage additions were removed,
including the enclosed front porch and the porte cochere. Certain frame additions
on the north, of uncertain date and of 1little significance, were also removed. The
original front porch was reconstructed from evidence obtained from examination of
early photographs of Maplewood. The restoration also included the installation

of new roofing (both Canadian Cedar shingles and copper sheet roofing) and new
copper gutters. The exterior was sandblasted and tuckpointed. Much of the wooden
cornice and many of the modillions had deteriorated and were replaced, using the
originals as guidelines for the replacements. All wooden trim was cleaned and
painted; windows were reglazed as necessary; and shutters were repaired and painted.
Interior renovations included patching of plaster, cleaning and sanding of floors,
and cleaning of woodwork. New electric wiring, heating and air conditioning
systems were installed, as well as a Sonitroll protection system. Wallpapers and
draperies appropriate to a Tate-nineteenth century dwelling were selected by a
professional interior decorator. The house was then carefully appointed with
furniture, works of art and memorabilia originally belonging to the Lenoir and
Nifong families. Additional period pieces were donated by various members of the
community. :
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SITE

Situated on the northeastern edge of a sixty-acre plot known as the Frank G.
Nifong Memorial Park, Maplewood faces east, overlooking Ponderosa Drive and
State Highway 63 beyond. The park is an oasis in the midst of development,
bounded by mobile home courts on the north and south, the Woodhaven Learning
Center on the west and the Lenoir Memorial Home across the highway on the east.

The immediate area surrounding the house is well landscaped and retains some
trees from the original grove of sugar maples, from which the house derived its
name. An imposing gate of stone and cast iron, originally from the Columbia
Cemetery, marks the original entrance to the house via a circular drive. A
brick walk Teads from that drive to the main entrance of the house. Public
access to the property is gained via a drive to the north of the gates.

APPURTENANT STRUCTURES

Also located on the property are several structures associated with the histor-

ical development and use of the farmstead. Directly to the west of the house

is a rectangular frame structure thought to be the servants' quarters. The
building consists of two small rooms, each serviced by the centrally placed chimney.
Covered with clapboards painted red, the building presently sits on blocks,
suggesting that it may have been moved at some time from its original position

on the property.

To the north of the servants' quarters is a large, two-story frame carriage
house. This rectangular structure is covered with board and batten siding
painted red and has a small, one-story section on the south which may have
served as a blacksmith's shop. The building presently houses Dr. Nifong's
extensive collection of carriages. Between the carriage house and the servants'
quarters is a subterranean root cellar, reached by a wooden hatch door.

To the west and slightly south of the servants' quarters is a small, square
building constructed of rock-faced, ashlar blocks and concrete piers. The
farm's water tower, visible in an historic photograph, originally perched atop
this structure. It was used for pumping water, for generating power and perhaps
for refrigeration of foods.
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Two Tlarge barns remain on the property. Both are Tocated to the south and west of
the house. The smaller barn, originally a stock barn, is of primitive pole
construction and covered with board and batten siding painted red (boards) and white
(battens). Rough, unhewn poles form the framing of the structure. The barn is

now used as part of the Children's Petting Farm, one of the attractions of the
Nifong Park.

The Targer barn is a very impressive structure of frame construction covered with
board and batten siding painted red. Rectangular in form, the barn has a tall,
central, gable-roofed section flanked by lower, shed-roofed wings. A gable-roofed
cupola distinguishes the building, which is amply 1it with rectangular windows.
Although the date of the barn is not known, it is thought to have been built prior

to 1900. This barn presently is used by the Maplewood Barn Theatre, under cooperative
agreement with the City of Columbia, Department of Parks and Recreation. Despite

this use, the integrity of the interior has been preserved.

In addition to the above buildings, a very small, frame garage is found on the
property, to the north and west of the stock barn. Directly to the east of
that garage are the remains of an equipment shed. The City plans eventually to
reconstruct this building.

One intrusion exists within the nominated area. A trailer, providing 1living quarters
for the resident caretaker of Maplewood, is located south of the house, near the
remains of the equipment shed. The City hopes eventually to replace the trailer

with a more suitable and less obtrusive structure.

VERBAL BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

Maplewood was originally part of a farmstead consisting of more than four hundred
acres. Sixty acres of this land are presently owned by the City of Columbia and
known as the Frank G. Nifong Memorial Park. Approximately twelve acres of the
northeastern portion of that plot have been included in this nomination. The
nominated area includes the farmhouse itself, Maplewood, and all of the remaining
appurtenances (as enumerated under SITE). As the land and the appurtenances are
fundamentally associated with the history and development of Maplewood, they are
important to Maplewood and therefore worthy of inclusion in the nomination.
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CONDITION AND PRESENT USE

Maplewood is in excellent condition, thanks to the restoration work done by the
City of Columbia, in cooperation with the Boone County Historical Society, ca.
1972-76. The house received complete exterior and interior restoration, with the
intent of returning it as closely as possible to its turn-of-the-century appearance.
The grounds were spruced up, and the associated outbuildings were given exterior
refurbishment.

The house now serves as a museum, decorated and furnished as a typical late
nineteenth century home. The majority of the furnishings are original Lenoir and
Nifong pieces, including antiques, works of art and family memorabilia. Dr. Frank
G. Nifong's office has been recreated in the original sitting room, and an upstairs
bedroom is devoted to the display of Lenoir and Nifong memorabilia, as well as
other itmes relating to the history of Columbia and Boone County. The room in the
first floor of the polygonal bay addition is used for the exhibition of the piano
and miscellaneous items associated with Blind Boone, a reknowned Black musician of
Columbia. The house also serves as the headquarters of the Boone County Historical
Society.

Maplewood is open to the public on Sundays from 2:00 to 5:00 from April through
November, and special tours for groups may be arranged. Members of the Boone County
Historical Society serve as volunteer tour guides, and no admission fee is charged.

The large hay barn on the property is used during the summer months by the Maplewood
Barn Theatre group. The productions are staged in the open air, with the barn
serving as backdrop, dressing room and general work room for the players. The
smaller stock barn is now used in association with a Children's Petting Farm or

Zoo of typical farm animals.

The remaining outbuildings are presently used for storage and are not open to the
public. The City of Columbia, Department of Parks and Recreation, and the Boone
County Historical Society hope to restore these buildings as well, perhaps for use
as additional museum space.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Maplewood, Columbia, Missouri, is significant as a rare surviving example in Boone
County of a late nineteenth century rural home. Built ca. 1877 by prosperous farmer
Slater Ensor Lenoir, the house retains much of its original integrity and appearance.
Its importance as an example of a surviving farmstead is enhanced by the presence of
several outbuildings, including hay and stock barns, carriage house, servants'
quarters, pump house and root cellar. In addition, MapTewood has local historical
significance as the former home of Columbia pioneer Slater Ensor Lenoir and of Dr.
Frank G. Nifong, eminent surgeon, community Teader and philanthropist. Restored

and operated as a museum, Maplewood is a prominent feature in Boone County and a
reflection of the coordinated preservation efforts of local citizens.

Slater Ensor Lenoir, the builder of Maplewood, was the sixth child bor? to Walter
Raleigh and Sarah Evalina (Bouchelle) Lenoir, early Columbia pioneers.’ Natives
of Wilkes County, North Carolina, the Lenoirs left their home in August of 1834,
‘heading westward toward Missouri. Arriving in Missouri with their caravan of

* twenty-three slaves, eleven horses, two wagons and two carry-alls, the family
settled on land northeast of Columbia. They eventually purchased the 320 acre
plot and ca. 18%9 built Greenwood (National Register), a two-story brick, Federal
style dwelling.

Greenwood was the boyhood home of Slater, who had been barely a year old when he
first arrived in Missouri with his parents. He received his education at the
University of Missouri and was one of mang adventurous Columbians who went west
to California in 1850, in search of gold.® Walter Lenoir had died in 1844, and
once Slater was of age, he continued the family business of farming with his
mother and sisters. He was to become one of Columbia's most progressive and
successful farmers and stock-raisers.

On April 21, 1864, Slater married %argaret A. Bradford, daughter of Austin and Lavinia
Bradford of Virginia and Kentucky.” He and his bride continued to reside at Greenwood

until the geath of his mother in 1877 and the subsequent completion of his new home,
Maplewood. '

In 1877 Slater was already occupied with the construction of his new home on land
south of Columbia,G"making the brick on the place and supervising every detail of
the construction."” The Missouri Statesman of June 22, 1877, mentioned Lenoir's
making a trip to St. Louis in order to purchase needed supplies of wood for the
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construction. The December 7th edition of that paper reported the completion
of "his new a9d elegant two story brick dwelling on his farm three miles south
of Columbia."

When completed, the house was gonsidered to be the "last word in comfort and
convenience" for a rural home.® Located on the Ashland toll road about three
miles southeast of the city of Columbia, the house was situated in the midst of a
grove of sugar maples, hence the name Maplewood. The farmstead was surrounded by
an "ideal" community of Virginia and Kentgcky folk, a typical late-nineteenth
century prosperous agrarian neighborhood.

In June of 1887, the Lenoir's only child, Lavinia,gr?8uated from Christian Female
College, where she had excelled in musical training. Later Lavinia was to meet,
and eventually marry, a successful young physician and surgeon from St. Louis, Dr.
Frank Gosney Nifong.

Born on January 19, 1867, Frank was the son of William and Eliza (Anthony) Nifong of
Madison County, Missouri. Young Nifong grew up in Fredericktown, attended Transylvania
University in Lexington, Kentucky, and entered Missouri Medical College in St. Louis.
In 1889 he served as an intern in the St. Louis City Hospital, and in 1891 he began
private practice. He taught anatomy at Missouri Medical College on]severa1 years,

and Tater became assistant surgeon in St. Louis Mullanphy Hospital.

On February 7, 1900, Nifong married Lavinia Lenoir. After a trip to the Gulf Coast,
New Orleans and the Mardi Gras, they returned to St. Louis, where they resided

for several years. However, Lavinia soon grew homesick for Columbia and the company
of her parents, sqzin 1905 the couple moved to Columbia and settled in at Maplewood

with the Lenoirs.

Eager to have his child at home, Slater Lenoir gave the couple a free hand to alter
the home to suit their needs. The modern amenities of heating, 1ighting and
plumbing ygre obtained, and the "home became distinguished for its unpretentious
comfort."

Upon arriving in Columbia, Nifong had soon become associated with Dr. A.W. McAlester,
Dean of the Medical Department at the University of Missouri. Concerned with the
state of medical education in Missouri, Nifong worked toward the development and
improvement of the university medical program. While at the Unixersity he also

was in charge of clinical surgery and taught operative surgery.
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In addition to improving the quality of medical education, Nifong was concerned with
providing medical care for the rural communities of Missouri. He staunchly supported
county hospital legislation, which permitted counties to vote bonds for hospital
construction and maintenance. He wrote numerable papers on surgical subjects, and in
1918 published a monograph entitled "The Hodgen Wire Cradle Extension Suspension
Splint." He was instrumental in the founding of the Boone County Hospital and was

a member of the Missouri and American Medical Associations, the Western Surgical
Association and a fellow of the American College of Physicians. He was also involved
in the estab}%shment of a new Department of Health Education at Stephens College

in Columbia.

In addition to his innovative leadership in the medical field, Dr. Nifong was a
benefactor of the community of Columbia. In 1949, he and Mjss Lavinia (as he
affectionately called his wife) honored the memory of Lavinia's parents by the
donation of $100,000.00, as well as about 172 acres of their land, for the
establishment of a retirement home. Later they donated yet another $100,000.00 to
that facility, known as the Lenoir Memorial Home.

In 1953, the Nifongs gave $100,000.00 toward ¥Ee construction of a wing, later

named for them, at the Boone County Hospital. Finally, in 1953, the couple deeded
the remainder of their farm to the Lenoir Memorial Home. Included in their gift
were all the furnishings, antiques, works of art and memorabilia found in the house;
all the associated outbuildings and contents; and all farm machinery and equipment.

In 1966, the National Christian Benevolent Association, which manages the Lenoir
Home and the Nifong Estate, offered Maplewood and sixty acres of the Nifong Farm

to the City of Columbia at half the appraised value of the property. With the aid
of matching funds from the State of Missouri, the property was purchased by the

City for use as a park. The Frank G. Nifong Memorial Park was dedic?;ed on November
8th of that year, during the Columbia-Boone County Sesquicentennial. In November
of 1974, the City of Columbia defégnated the restoration of Maplewood as an American
Revolution Bicentennial Project. The house was subsequently restored in time for
official dedication and opening to the public on July 3rd, 1976. The restoration

of Maplewood was truly a community project, accomplished through the determined
efforts of countless organizations and individuals. Now returned to its late
nineteenth century appearance and elegance, Maplewood is a source of community pride
and one of Boone County's most important Tandmarks.

The survey of Missouri's historical sites is based on the selection of sites as
they relate to theme studies in Missouri history as outlined in Missouri's State
Historic Preservation Plan. Maplewood, therefore, is being nominated to the
National Register of Historic Places as an example of the themes of "Architecture"
and "Society".
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1. For biographical information on Slater Ensor Lenoir, see: History of Boone

County, Missouri (St. Louis: Western Historical Company, 1882), p. 775.

2. Extensive information on the Lenoir family in Missouri is contained in: Lewis
E. Atherton, "Life, Labor and Society in Boone County, Missouri 1834-1852 as Revealed
in the Correspondence of an Immigrant Slave Owning Family from North Carolina,"

Part I, Missouri Historical Review 38 (April 1944): 277-304; Part II, MHR 38

(July 1944): 405-429.

3. History of Boone County, p. 775; Missouri Statesman, March 15, 1850.

4. Missouri Statesman, April 22, 1864.

5. History of Boone County, p. 775.

6. Frank Gosney Nifong, The Afterglow (Columbia, Mo.: [Artcraft Press, 1945]),
pp. 241.

7. Missouri Statesman, December 7, 1877.

8. Nifong, Afterglow, p. 241.
9. Ibid.

10. Missouri Statesman, June 4, 1886.

11.  Walter B. Stevens, ed., Centennial History of Missouri (The Center State).
Vol. IV. (St. Louis: The S.J. Clarke Publishing Company, 1921), p. 117.

12. Nifong, The Afterglow, pp. 219, 231.

13.  _Ibid., p. 241.

14. Stevens, Centennial History, p. 117.
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1820-1971 (Columbia, Mo.: The Columbia/Boone County Sesquicentennial Commission,

T971), p. 66.
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15/561000/4306450; thence it runs north along UTM Tine 561000, until UTM point
15/561000/4306620, at which point it turns eastward, continuing in a northeasterly
direction along the southern right of way of Nifong Boulevard (Route AC), until
its intersection with the point of beginning.

ITEM NUMBER 11  PAGE 1

2. Claire F. Blackwell, Architectural Historian March 1, 1979
Department of Natural Resources
O0ffice of Historic Preservation 314/751-4096
P.0. Box 176

Jefferson City Missouri 65102



6161 A¥VNNE3d HLINS 1718 :A8 NMVYQ TIIMNOVIE8  FHIVIO  :¥04 NMVHd

X

X

X

AlY3dO¥d QILYNINON 40 ANVANNOS 3LVWIXONY -
amm.:\m\_.m-/)

> N¥vVE QOOM3TdVI)
o (Wuvd “  NNVE AVH
ONILL3d (VM
-
-

S,N3¥aTIHD)
NuVE %201s

Bv e
_ e (s e
L |
P N\

¥INVLINYD IN3AISIY T HOd ¥ITIVHL ﬂJMv -

3ISNOH n_::n\mu H -

A [
QOoOM3TdVA nu S¥3LNVND

A G |
ft

31vOs OL 1ON

-

3sn LN3S3¥d 3LVOIONI SIASIHLIN3YVd NI SIWVN

N
noisnaLNi = [///A L

I4NOSSIN “VIGIWNT02
AOOMI1dVIN

dVWN NVY1d 31IS



6.61 A¥vNyE3d HLINS 7718 :A8 NMVNA AIIMNOVIE  JYIVID 1¥0d NMVHD

i | NANT02

y3Lsviid

HOHvd

»J2078
HSVIds

VIV ‘Y43AVHNILSIM 9°M d0 WooN 9SNINId
SONIMVYA WO¥4 S1108 'WA A8 d31dvav

n_oo._.m wz_>§ xo_mmw
acom | ¥~

guno "IN09

— e
\ < N3HOLIN

37vOs Ol1L L1ON

3JOVYHOLS

I4NOSSIN “VIFINNTI0D
AOOMT 1dVIA

NVld 800714 .Syid



6261 AMVYN¥E83d HLINS 7718 :A8 NMV¥a AI3MMIVIE  3HIVID ¥0d NMYNd

woodyaas Woouya3s

St

VY ‘Y3AVHNILSIM 9 4O

SONIMYNA WOMd S1108 WA A8 Q31ldvav nNooya3s

nwooya3s

391430
AL131008

voiNolsin 3°OVH0LS
‘00 3INOOS
1N3s34d

N‘I.l

37v0s Ol 1ON

SR

I4NOSSIN “VIGIANTOD
JOOM3 TdVIN

NVild 800714 dNOO3S



o

X Rvg
5>

£

)

s




&
’.
e e .
P
!

u; ':}
(HHHH ,';,' it
HHH
Ak /-













RN T

O e e

@w@.ﬁ

W.«













————— =—
=V _———
= — === e







{ : %
Ny
Fwas







